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BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT

The Board ofDirecto.s have the pleasure in submifting their report and the audited consolidated financial statements
ofGulf Mcdical Projects Company ("Compeny") and its subsidirry (togerher referred to as the ,.Group") for
the yearended 3l December 2025 and the BoaJd ofDirectors have given clearance for issuance ofthese consolidated
financial statements on l7 February 2026.

Incorporution

Gulf Medicrl Projccts Company- Sharjah is a public shareholding company incorporated in Sharjah by an Amiri
Decree No.48/79 issued by His Highness the Ruler ofShariah on 2 August 1979.

The Company is domiciled in Sharjah City and its registered address is P.O. Box 5385, Emirate ofSharjah, United
Arab Emirates,

Principal activities

The main activities ofthe Company and its subsidiary (together referred to as the "Group,') ar€ general hospital,
tclehealth services and home health caJe center, advanced first aid training center, hospitals management and
establishment of medicine manufacturing factories.

Finoncial rcsults

Total revenue ofthe Group for the yea. amounted to AED. 767,523 thousand (2024: AED. 677,337 thousand) and
the Croup generated a profit after tax ofAED. 135,167 thousand (2024: AqD.100,050 thousand).

Boad oJ Direclon

Sheikh Dr. Faisal Bin Khalid Khalid Al Qasimi
M.. Salem Abdulla Salem Alhosani
Sheikh Majid Faisal Khaled Al Qassimi
SheikhaNoor Faisal Khalid AI Qasimi
Sheikh Mohammad Faisal Khalid Al Qassimi
Mr. Ahmad Mohammed Hassan AlHosani
Mr. Tareq Abdulhadi Murser AlAjmi
Mr. Mohammed Salem Abdulla Salem Alhosani
Mr. Ahmed Salem Abdulla Salem Alhosani

Chairman
Vice -Chairman
Managing Director
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member

Pruposed Appropiation ol ProJi* and Board of Diector's Remuneration

In respect of the current year, the Board of Directors have proposed a cash dividend of AED. I18,815,736 at
AED. 0.17 per share to be paid to shareholders in 2026.
It has been also proposed that the Board ofDirectors remune.ation for the year be AED. 9,000,000.

The above mentioned propnsed dividends and board ofdirectors' remuneration are subject to the approval ofthe
shareholders at the Annual General M€eting.

Auditots

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 3l December 2025 were audited by Talal Abu-Ghazaleh
& Co. Intemational - Sharjah and rhey have indicated their willingness to continue as the auditor ofthe Group for
the year 2026. A resolution proposing thei. re-E)pointment will be put at the annual general meeting.

On behalfofthe Board of Directors

Sheikh
(Chei 8n)

al Bin Khalid Khalid Al Qasimi
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Shareholders of
Gulf Medical Projects Company
Public Sbareholding Company
United Arab Emirotes

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financiol Statemcnts

Opinion

we have audited the consolidated financial statements of Gulf Medicrl Projects company (tle
.,company") and its subsidiary (the .'Group"), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial ioiition as at 3l December 2025, consolidated statement of income and consolidated

statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in e4uity and consolidated

statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements

including material ac.ounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanfng consolidated finaocial statements present fairly, in all material

respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 3l December 2025, and its consolidated

financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with

Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Accounting Standards)'

Basis lor Opinion

we conducted our audit in accordance with International standards on Auditing (ISAs). our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit

ofihe Consotidated Finqncial Statemenrs section of our report. We are independent ofthe Group in

a'ccordance with thc 'Intemational Ethics standards Board for Accountants' code of Ethics for
professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the other ethical requircments that are relevant

to our audit ofthe Group's consolidated financial statements in the United Arab Emirates and we have

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We beliele that the

audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient ald appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit mdtters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professionaljudgmenl, were of most significance in our

audit ofthe consolidated financial statements ofthe current period. These matters were addressed on the

context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matter

described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report'

Valuation of inves tment proPelties

The Group has investmenr properties amounting to AED. 106,295 thousand (Note 8) ofthe consolidated

financial itatements as at 3l December 2025. The investnent properties represent 6'9 % of the total

assets as at 3l December 2025. T\e management of the Group determines the fair value of the

investment properties at each reporting date. The Group uses expert extemal valuers to determine the

fair value oi thi innestt 
"rt 

properties. The valuation of the invesEnent proPerties are dependent on

estimates and assumptions.
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Sharcholders of
Gulf Medicol Projects Company (Continued)

Key audit motters (Continued)

Yaluation of investmenl properties (Continued)

We performed the following audit procedures :

. We have €valuated the competence, objectivity and independenc€ ofthe valuers.

. We have assessed and challenged the appropriateness of the underlying data, methodologies and

assumptions used.

o We have assessed the Group's disclosure relating to invesfinent properties and its fair value are in
compliant with the related International Financial Reporting Standards.

Ac.counts recefuable and adequacy of provision lor impairment loss

The Group has significant accounts receivable (Note 12) of AED.222,O43 thousand as at 3l December

2025 before provision for impairment loss of acrounts receivable of AED. I 19,059 thousand which is

significant to the Croup as its r€presents approximately 14.4% of iB total assets and there is a risk over

the rccoverability of the overdue amounts. Due to the inherently j udgmental nature in the computation

of the expected credit losses @CL), there is a risk due to the material impact on the consolidated

financial statements of the Group as the determination of ECL involves significant management
judgment and estimate.

We performed the following audit procedures :

Performed test of control over accounts receivables processes to determine whether controls are

operating effectively throughout the year.

Requested direct confirmations from a sample of outstanding balances, performed altemate
procedures for non-replies, including verification of the supporting documents and subsequent

collections.

o Reviewed the management assessment of recoverability of accounts receivable tfuough detailed

analysis of ageing of receivables and also assessed the adequacy of provisions taken based on
Expected Credit Loss "ECL Model".

. Inquired fiom the management about any past due accounts with no subsequent collections and

management's plan for recovering these receivables.

Inquired about disputes, ifany, with customers during the year and reviewed any uncollected amounts

to assess recoverability.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the information
included in the Board ofDir€ctoF Report of2025, other than the consolidated financial statements and

our auditor's report thereon. We obtained the Board of Directors Report, at the date of our auditor's
report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do

not express any form of assuranc.e conclusion thereon.

3

@



Independetrt Auditor's Report to the Shareholders of
Gulf Medical Proj€cts Company (Continued)

O ther informati on (Continued)

In connection with our audit ofthe consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the

other information identified above an4 in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially

inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

otherwise appears to be materially misstat€d. If, based on the work we have Performed, we conclude

that there isi material misstaternent ofthis other infomration; we arc required to report that fact. We

have nothing to report in lhis regard.

Responsibilities of Managemenl and those charged with gov*nonce for the Consolidated Financial

Statements

Management is responsible for the Eeparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial

state;nts in accMance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standalds (IFRS Accounting

Standards), and their preparation in compliance with the applicable provisions of UAE Federal Law No.

32 of ZOZI and its amendments and the Articles of Association of the Company and for such internal

control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to faud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's

aUitlty to continue as a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concem and

using the going concem Lasis ofaccounting unless management either intends to liquidaG the Group or

to c€ase operations, or has no realistic altemative but to do so.

Those charged with govemance are Fesponsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit dthe Consolidated Financial Statemen*

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements

as a wiole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue auditor's

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assuranc€, but is not a guarantee

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are mnsidered material if, individually or in

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the

basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of al audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgrnent and maintain

professional skepticism tfuoughout the audit. We also:

. Identiry and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,

whether due to fraud or enor, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risls, and

obtain audit evidence that is sufricient and appropriate to provide a basis ofour opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting fiom fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override

of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding ofintemal contsol relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures

that are appropriate in the circumsances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness ofthe Group's intemal contol.
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Independent Auditor's Report to thc Shareholders of
Gulf Medical Projects Company (Continu€d)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Cowolidated Financial Statemen* (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness ofmanagement's use ofthe going concem basis ofaccounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material unc€rtainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a mat€rial unc€rtainty exists, we are rcquired to draw attention in auditor,s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modiS our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date ofauditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concem.

Evaluate the overall presentation, sauctue and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial stdernent rcpresent the
underlying transactions and eveats in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidenc€ regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with govemance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit frndings, including any significant deficiencies in
intemal conhol that we identi$ during our audit.

We also provide those charged with govemancr with a statement that we have complied with relevaat
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them allrelatiorships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with govemance, we determine those mattefs that
were ofmost significance in the audit ofthe consolidated financial statements ofthe current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequenc€s of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal rnd Regulrtory Requirements

As required by UAE Federal Law No. 32 of202l and its amendments we report that:

l. We have obtained all the information and explanation we considered necessary for our audit.

2. The consolidated financial statements are prepared and comply, in all material respect with the
applicable provisions of UAE Federal Law No. 32 of202l and its amendments.

3. The Group has maintained proper books ofaccount.

5-
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Shareholders of
Gulf Medical Projects Company (Continued)

Report on Other Legal atrd Regulotory Requircments (Conainued)

4. The financial information ofthe Board ofDirectors report arc in agreement with the books ofaccount
and records ofthe Group.

5. Investment and shares purchased by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2025 are disclosed
in Note 9.

6. Transactions and terms with related parties are disclosed in Note I l.

7. Based on the information and explanation that has b€en made available to us nothing carne to our

aftention which causes us to believe that the Group has contavened during the financial year ended

3 I December 2025 eay of the applicable provisions of UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021 and its

amendments or the Articles of Association of the Company which would have a material affect on

the Group's activities or on its financial position for the year.

8. The Social Contributions made dwing the year are disclosed in Note 27.

TALAL ABU.GHAZALEH & CO. INTERNATIONAL

leh
Auditor No. ll30'

Sharjall 17 February 2026

-6-

@



GULF MEDTCAL PRoJEcrs CoMpANy (PJSC)
CONSoLIDATED STATEMENT oT FINANCIAL PosITIoN
AS AT 3I DECEMBER 2025 EXEIBIT A

AssETs
Non-Currctrt Assets
Property and equipment
Intangible assets

Right-of-use assets

Investment properties
Inv€stnents at fair value through other comprehensive income (FWOCD

Toaal Non-Curretrt Assets

Curretrt Assets
Inventories
Due from a related party
lnvestments at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Accounts receiyable and others
Cash and bank balances

Toaal CurreDt Asscts

T0TAL Assf,Ts

Equity and Liabiliaics
Equity
Share capital
Reserves
Cumulative change in fair value ofinvestments measurcd at fair value

through o0rer comprehensive income
Retained eamings

Net equity athibutable to equity holders ofthe parent company
Non-controll ing interest

Total Equity - Exhibit C

Notr-Currctrt Liabilitics
Employees' end of service benefits
Lease liabilities
Defened tax liabilities

Total NoD-Current Liabiliaies

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and others
Lease liabilities
lncome tax provision

Total Current Lisbilities

TOTAL EQUTTY ANI) LIABILTTIES

These consolidated

Notc 202s
Af,,D '000,

695,085
2,500
6,729

r0619s
305,649

2024
AED 'OOO'

5

6
't
8

9

695,122
735

7,353
l04,l8l
250,307

1,116,2s8 r,05E,29E

r0
l1
9
12

13

27,O21
1,646

60,661
r 1E,,160

28,Al

t8,047
1,832

36,567
128,088

19t,993

431,215 383,527

1,541,473 1,441,825

l4
l5

698,916
317,074

73,252
13r,583

1220,825
111,692

69E,916
106,223

18,447
145,763

1,169,349
91,033t7

rJ38,517 1,260,382

18

l9
28

20
l9
28

31,481
3,100
3,2a2

2E,tO2
4,420

923

15t,890
3,168
9,035

37,E63 33,445

138,3l',7
1,500
8,181

171,093 147,998

1,547,413 1,441,825

THE ACCoITOANYD{G NoTES CoNSI TUTE AN INTEGRAL
PART OF THxsE CoNSoLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the best of our knowledge, the financial information included in these consolidated fnancial statements
fairly presels in all material respects the f[rancial condition, result of operation and cash flows ofthe Group
as of, and for, the periods presented therein.

statements
February

isal Bin Khalid Khalid Al Qasimi
(Chairman)

for issue by the Board ofDtectors on
d on their behalfbv :

Sheikh Dr alerD AMulla Salem Alhosani
(Vice Chairman)



GULF MEDTCAL PRoJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
CONSOLDATED STATEMEM oF INCoME FoR TIIE
YEAR ENDED 3 1 DECEMBER 2025 EXEBIT B

Revenues
Cost ofrevenues

Gross profit

Fair value gain{loss) of investments at FVTPL
Fair value gain of investment properties
Other income
General and adm inistrative expenses
Finance cost on lease liabilities

Prolit for the Year b€fore t{x - Exhibit D
Current income tax expenses
Deferred tax

Profit for the year

Attributable To :

Equity holders of the parent compaly
Non-controlling interest

Total

Basic earnings per share (AED)

. Faisal Bin Khalid Khalid Al Qasimi
(Chairman)

Note 2025
AED '000'

767,523
(s56,113)

2tl,4to

24
25

28
28

2024
AED'000'

677,337
(490,70s)

186,632

26
27

24,094
2,114

47,567
(138,490)

(136)

(2,83e)
13,090
29,548

(t7,t27)
(150)

109,r 54
(8,1 8l )

(923\

146,559
(9,033)

<2Ase)

135,167 100,050

77,887
22,t63

100,050

108,508
26,659

Salem Abdulla Salem Alhosani
(Vice Chairman)

135,167

29 0.155

THE AccoMpANnNG NorEs CoNSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL
PART oF TEESE CoNSoLTDATED F'INANCIAL STATEMENTS

0.lll
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GULF MEDTCAL IhOJECTS COMpAT\ry (PJSC)
CONSOLDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREEENSII'E INCOME FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025 EXEBIT B CoNTIN.UED

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income :

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to prolit or loss

Gain on salc of investments at FVTOCI
Increase in fair value ofinvestments at FVTOCI

Total other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year - Exhibit C

Attributable to :
Equity holders ofthe parent company
Non-controlling interest

Total

2025
AED'000'

135,167

54,805

54,805

l63Jr3
26,659

189,972

2024
AED '000'

100,050

4,231
55,240

189,972

59,47t

159,521

137,358
22,163

159,521

TITE ACCoMPANYING NoTEs CoNSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL
PART OF TEESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Sheikh sal Bin Khalid Khalid Al Qasimi . Salem Abdulla Salem Alhosani
(Vice Chairman)(Chairman)

-9-



GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
CoNSoLIDATED STATEMENT oF CHANGES IN EQUITY FoR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025 EXHBIT C

Attributable to €quity holders of tbe Darent comDany

Share caDital Reserves
AED '000'

698,916

AED '000'

306,223

Non-

Controlling
itrteresa
AED '000'

91,033 1,260382

fair value of investmenas
measured FVTOCI

AED '000'

Retained
earnings

AED '000'
Total

AED'000'
Total

AED '000'

Cumulative charge iD

18,447

54,805

54,805

73,252

Balatrce at 1 January 2025

Profit for the year ended 31 December 2025 - Exhibit B

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

Casb diYidends - Note 16
Board of directors reDuncration - Note l6
Transferred to statutory reserve

Balance at 31 Deceober 2025 - Exhibit A

145,763

108,508

108,508

(104,837)
(7,000)

(10,8s1)

l3r,5E3

1,169,349

108,508

54,805

r63Jr3

(104,837)
(7,000)

26,659 135,r67

54,805

26,659 189,972

(r04,837)
(7,000)

r0,65r

69E,9r6 317,014 1220,825 117,692 1,338,517

THE ACCoITfANYING NOTES CONSTMI,ITE AN
INIEGRAL PART oF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMEI\TS

- l0-



GULF MEDTCAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
CoNSoLIDATED STATEMENT oF CIIANGES IN EQUITY FoR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025 EXHIBIT C CONTINUED

Attributable ta eLulblhqklglsqfllrE parent company

Share capital
AED'000'

698,916 298,434

7,789

698,916 306,223

Cumulative change in
fair value of investments

measured FVTOCI
AED'000'

(49,163)

55,240

55,240

t2,370

18,447

Reserves
AED'OOO'

Retained
eamings

AED'OOO'
Total

Non-
Conholling

interest Total

Balance at I Janrary 2024

Profit for the year ended 3l December 2024 - Exhibit B

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

Cash dividends - Note l6
Board of dircctoN remuneration - Note 16

Transfered to statutory reserve
Transfer offair value reserve on disposal ofinvestrnents

ofFVTOCI

Balance at 31 December 2024 - Exhibit A

AED 'OOO'

|,to7,265t59,078

77,887

4,211

82,1 l8

(69,892)
(5,382)
('7;r89)

(r2,3'.70)

145,763

AED'OOO'

68,870

22,163

AED'OOO'

1,176,135

100,050

59,47 |

'17,887

59,471

137,358

(69,892)
(s,382)

22,163 159,521

(69,892)
(s,382)

1,169,349 91,033 I,260,382

TIIE ACCOMPANYING NOTf,S CONSTITUTE AN

INTEGRAL PART oF TIIESE CoNSoLIDATED Ftr.IANCIAL STATf,IDNTS

-l l-



GULF MEDICAL PRoJECTS CoMPANY (PJSC)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH Fl-ows FoR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025 EXHIBIT D

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit for the year before tax - Exhibit B
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Amortization of intangible assets

Fair value (gain)/loss on revaluation ofinvestments at FVTPL
Dividends income
Fair value gain on investment propefties
Loss from a related party
Employees end of service benefits
Provision for impairment loss ofaccounts receivable
Provision for slow-moving items
Finance cost - lease liabilities
(Gain)/loss on sale ofproperty and equipment
lnterest income

Operating cash flows before changes in operating assets and liabilities
lncrease in inventories
Increase in due from a related party
Increase in accounts receivable and others
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable and others
Settlements ofemployees end of service benefits
Income tax paid

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVf,STING ACTIVITIES

Decrease/(increase) in fixed deposits
Interest income received
Purchase of property and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets

Proceeds from sale ofproperty and equipment
Purchase ofinvestments at FVTOCI
Proceeds from sale of investments at FVTOCI
Dividends received

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

CASH Fl"ows FRoM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayments of lease liabilities
Cash dividends paid
Board of directors remuneration paid

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities

Net increase(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ofyear

Cash and Cash Equivalents at end ofYear - Note 30

2025 2024
AED'000' AED '000'

146,559 109,154

27,370
2,587

579

Q4,094)
(20,913)

(2,,114)
214

6,892
34,638

1,1l8
136

(420)
(6,9ss)

25,680
2,436

528
2,839

(r3,7E2)
( 13,090)

370
< 106

30,467

150

388
(s,s89)

165,597
(10,09r)

(2E)
(24,,263)

20,573
(3,s13)
(E,179)

144,847
(2,8E7)

(e)
(40,353)
( 12,389)

(2,221)

140,0E9 86,988

1,924
6,20t

(26,761)
(2,344)

448
(s37)

(r02,1 l3)
5 011

(20,71s)
(303)

825

20,913

(149')

(113,s88)

26,352
22,952

68,217
13,782

(3s,27 4)

(1,7s1)
(104,837)

(7,000)

(2,34s)
(69,892)

(s,382)

('17,619)

(2s,90s)
48,8 57

49,304

THE ACCoMPANYING NoTES CoNSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL
PART oF THESE C0NSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
NoTEs To TrrE CoNSoLIDATED FTNANCIAL STATIMENTS FoR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBf,R 2025

L STATUS AND AcrlvlrlEs

Gulf Medical Projects Company - Sharjah (hereinafter referred to as the .rCompany,,) is a public
shareholding company incorporated in Sharjah by an Amiri Decree No.48/79 issued by His Highness
the Ruler ofSharjah on 2 August 1979.

The main activities of the Company and its subsidiary (together refened to as the "Group") are
general hospital, telehealth services and home health care center, advanced first aid training center,
hospitals management and establishment of medicine manufacturing factories.

The Group is domiciled in Sharjah City and its registered address is P.O. Box 5385, Sharjah, United
Arab Emirates.

2. ADopTIoN oF NEw AND REvrsED STANDARDS, INTERPRETATToN AND AMENDMENTS

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation ofconsolidated financial stratements are consistent
with those applied by the Group in the interpretation ofthe consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 3l December 2024 except for the adoption ofthe following new standards, interpretation
and amendments.

2.1 Standards, inaerpretations issued and effective for the current year

The Group has adopted all the applicable new and revised standards and interpretations issued by
the Intemational Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the Intemational Financial Reponing
Interpretations Committee (IFNC) ofthe IASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for
the period beginning on I January 2025.

. Amendments to IAS 2l (Lack of exchangeabiliq)

The amendments require an entity to apply a consistent approach to assessing whether a

currency is exchangeable into another curency and, when it is not, to determine the
exchange rate to use and the disclosures to provide.

This amendment had no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the

Group.

2.2 Standards, interpretations issued and not yet effective and not early adopted

Effective date
. Amendments to IFRS (7) and (9) : Amendments to the Classification and I Jansary 2026

Measurement of Financial Instruments and Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity

o Annual lmprovements to IFRS Accounting Standards-Volume I I I Jan|lary 2026
- IFRS l: Hedge accounting by a first-time adopter
- IFRS 7: Gain or loss on derecognition
- Guidance on Implementing IFRS 7: Disclosure of deferred

difference between fair value and transaction price and Credit risk
disclosures

- IFRS 9: Derecognition oflease liabilities and Transaclion price
- IFRS l0: Determination ofa'de facto agent'
- IAS 7: Cost method

o IFRS 18: Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements I Jarnary 2027
o IFRS 19: Subsidiaries without Public Accountability Disclosures I Jantary 2027
. Amendments to IFRS l0 and IAS 28 : Sale or Contribution of Assets Indefinitely

between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture deferred
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GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
NoTEs TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE

YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS, INTERPRETATION AND AMENDMENTS

(CONTINUED)

2.2 Standards, interpretations issu€d and not yet effective and not early adopted (Continued)

The Group intends to adopt these new and amended standards and interpretations when they become

effective. The management anticipates that the adoption ofthe above standards and interpretations

in future periods will have no material impact on the consolidated financia.l statements ofthe GrouP.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

3.1 Statement of compliance

The Group's consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Intemational

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Accounting Standards) as issued by the International

Accounting Siandards Board (IASB) and applicable requirements ofthe UAE Federal Law No. 32

of2021 and its amendments on Commercial Companies.

3.2 Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for

investment properties, land and investments in financial assets which has been measured on the

basis of fair value/valuation.

3.3 Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirates Dirham (AED),

which is the Group's Functional currency. Amounts presented in AED in these consolidated

financial statements are rounded to the nearest thousand.

3.4 Use of estimates' assumptions and judgm€nt

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting

Standidi requires management to make judgment, estimates and assumption that affect the

application oi policies and reported amount of assets and liabilities, income and expenses, other

disclosures and disclosures of contingent liabilities.

The Group based its assumptions, judgments and estimates on parameteB available when the

consolidatid financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about

future development, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond

the control ofthe Group. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Such changes are reflected

in the consolidated financial statements when they occur.

Estimates, judgments and underlying assumption are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to

accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any

future period affected.

Estimates, assumptions and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on management

historical experience and other factors, including expectation of future events that are believed to

be reasonable under circumstance.

Estimates, assumptions andjudgments with significant risk of material adjustment in the future year

mainly comprise of the following:
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GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025

3. BASIS oF PRIPARATIoN (CoNTINUED)

3.4 Us€ ofestimates, assumptions and judgm€nt (Continued)

Fair value measurements

Some ofthe Group's assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an assets or liability, the GrouP use market observable data to the

extent it is available. Where level I inputs are not available, the Group engages qualihed external

values to perform the valuation. The management works closely with qualified external values to

establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. Information about the

valuation techniques and its inputs used in determining the fair value ofvarious assets and liabilities
are disclosed in the respective notes.

Classification of investment

Management designates at the time ofinitial recognition ofinvestments in securities whether these

should be classified as at FVTOCI or FVTPL. In judging whether inveshnents in securities are as

at FVTOCI or FVTPL, management has considered the detailed criteria for determination of such

classification as set out in IFRS 9, and accordingly management is satisfied that its investment in
securities are appropriately classified.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group's management evaluate whether there are indicators that suggest non-financial assets

have suffered impairment in accordance with accounting policies. The recoverable amount of an

asset is determined based on the fair value less cost ofdisposal ofthe specific asset impaired.

Provision relating to contracts

The Group reviews all its arrangements on a regular basis to identiry any arrangements where the

unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contracts exceed the economic benefits

expected to be received under it. The unavoidable costs under contract reflect the least net cost of
exiting from the contract which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or

penalties arising from failure to fulfill it. The Group estimates any such provision based on the facts

and circumstances relevant to the contracts.

Determining the l€ase terms

ln determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an

economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination oPtion' Extension

options (or periods afier termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is

reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).

Useful lives of prop€rty and equipm€nt

The Group's management determines the estimated useful lives of its properties and equiPment for
calculating depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering the cunent usage of the

assets compared to full utilization capabilities of the assets and physical wear and tear. Group's
management reviews the residual value and useful lives annually.

Impairment loss on property and equipment

The Group reviews its property and equipment to assess impairment, if there is an indication of
impairment. ln determining whether impairment losses should be reported in consolidated statement

of income the Group makes judgments as to whether there is any observable data indication that

there is a reduction in the carrying value of property and equipment. Accordingly, provision for
impairment is made where there is an identified loss event or condition which, based on previous

experience, is evidence of a reduction in the carrying value ofProperty and equipment.
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GULF MEDTCAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DEcEMBER 2025

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

3.4 Use ofestimates, assumptions and judgment (Continued)

Impairment of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. When inventories become slow-
moving or obsolete, an estimate is made oftheir net realizable value. For individually significant
amounts this estimation is performed on an individually basis. Amounts which are not individually
significant but which are slow moving or obsolete, are assessed collectively and provision is made
according to inventories type and degree of ageing or obsolescence, based on historical selling
prices.

Leases estimating the incremental borrowin8 rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its
incremental borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate ofinterest that the
Group would have to pay to borow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group 'would have to pay', which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the
terms and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as

market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates.

Provision for expected credit loss "ECL"

When measuring ECL the Group uses reasonable and supportable forwardJooking information,
which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these

drivers will affect each other. Loss given default is an estimate ofthe loss arising on default. It is based

on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to
receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral and integral credit enhancements. Probability
of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate of the

likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical dat4
assumptions and expectations of future conditions. Refer note 12 for the provision for the loss

allowance for the year.

3.5 Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements ofthe parcnt entity and

entity controlled by the Company (its subsidiary). Control is achieved when :

. The Group has power over the investee.

. The Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee,

o The Group has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its retums.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are charges to one or more ofthe three elements of control mentioned above.
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GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
NOTf,S TO THE CONSOLTDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE

YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

3.5 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

when the Group has less than a majority ofthe voting or similar rights ofan investee, the Group

considers all relevant facts circumstances whether it has power over an investee, including :

. The conhactual anangement with the other vote holders ofthe investee.

. Rights arising from other contractual arrangements.

o The Group's voting rights and potential voting rights

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains conhol over the subsidiary and ceases

when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specihcally income and expenses of a subsidiary

acquired or disposed during the year included in the consolidated statement of income from the date

theGroup gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary'

profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributable to the owners of
the Group and to the non-controlling interest even ifthis results in the non-controlling interest having

a deficit balance.

When necessary, a justments are made to the financial statements of a subsidiary to bring their

accounting policies into line with the Group accounting policies

All intragroup balances and income, equity and cash flows relating to transactions between entities

ofthe Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group ownership interests in a subsidiary that do not result in the Group losing control

over a subsidiary are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the GIoup

interests and the non-controlling interest are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests

in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest are

adjusted and the fair value ofthe consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and

attributed to owners of the GrouP.

The details ofthe subsidiary is as follows :

ComDany

Al Zahra (Pr4.) Hospital Dubai (L.L.C)

%o of
ownership

2025 2024

6r.38 68.38

CountrY of
Princioalactivities incornoration

General Hospital, home
health care center and

telehealth services and
advanced first aid
training center

UAE
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GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
NoTEs To TIIE CoNSoLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2025

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

4.1 Property and equipm€nt

The property and equipment are carried at their cost/revaluation less any accumulated depreciation

and any accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes purchase cost together with any incidental

costs ofacquisition.

Subsequent costs are included in the assets carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item and

the cost ofthe item can be measured reliably.

The cost ofday to day service ofproperty and equipment is expensed as incurred.

Depreciation ofan asset begins when it is available for use in the manner intended by management.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives as follows :

Estimat€d useful lives
Years

l0-40
1 l0
3-5
l-5

No depreciation is charged on land and capital work-in-progress. The depreciation charge for each

period is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted if
appropriate at each repofting date. An assets carrying amount is written down immediately to its

recoverable amount ifthe asset's carrying amount is greater than estimated recovelable amount.

Hospital buildings
Hospital fumiture and equipment
Motor vehicles
Other furniture and equipment

Gain or loss arising on disposal ofany item ofpropefty and equipment (calculated as the difference

between the net disposal proceeds, and the carrying amount of the assets) is recognized in the

consolidated statement of income.

Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost on present proPerty that is being constructed or

developed for future use. When commission, Capital work-in-progress is tansferred to the

respective category and depreciated in accordance with the Group's policy.

4.2 Intangible assets

Intangible assets represents the total amounts paid towards software and is canied at cost less

accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is calculated on

straight line basis over a period offive to eight years from the date they are available for use.

4.3 Currentversus non-currentclassilication

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financia[ position based

on cunent/non-cunent classification. An asset is current when it is :

. Expected to be realized or intended to sold or consumed in normal operating cycle;

. Held primarily for the purpose oftrading;

. Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting date or
o Cash and cash equivalents unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for

at least twelve months after the reporting date.

All other assets are classified as non-curent.
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GULF MEDICAL PROJECIS COMPANY (PJSC)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE

YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.3 Current versus non-current classification (Continued)

A liability is cunent when :

. It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle;

o It is held primarily for the purpose oftrading;
. lt is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or
. There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement ofthe liability for at least twelve months

after the reporting date.

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current

4.4 Leases

The Group evaluates at the beginning of the lease agleement whether the conhact is a lease

og.""."nt o. includes a renlal arrangement. Ifthe contlact is wholly or partially transfening the

r[ht to control the use of a specific asset flom one party to another for a specihc period of timein

eichange for a specific compensation or allowance, then the Group recognizes the right to use the

assets ind lease obligationJ with the exception of short-term leases of one year or less and the

leases for leased assets with low value. For these leases, the Group recognizes lease payments as

an operating expense on a straight line basis over the term ofthe lease, unless another systematic

basis furthei prisents the period of time in which the economic benefits from the leased assets are

amortized.

Group as a lessee

Lease obligations

Lease obligations are recognized and measured initially at the present value oflease payments that

have not been paid on the commencement date of the lease contract, and those payments are

discounted using the interest rate implicit in the contract, and if it is not known, then the Group

uses the incremental borowing interest rate.

Unpaid lease payments include:

- Fixed lease payments less any lease incentives receivable.

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, measured initially using the index or

rate at the start date ofthe lease.

- The amount the lessee is expected to pay the lessor when there is a residual value guaranteed in

the lease agreement.

- The price of exercising buying options, if the lessee is reasonably certain of exercising the

options.

- Tirmination fines, ifthe lease reflects the exercise ofthe option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate component ofthe Group's consolidated statement of
financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect the

interest on the lease obtigation and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments

paid.

The Group re-measures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related

right-of-use assets) whenever:

- The lease term has changed or lhere is a significant event or change in circumstances that lead

to a change in the evaluation ofthe purchase option exercise, in which case the lease liability is

re-measured by discounting the revised lease payments using the revised discount rate'
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GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2025

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTTNUED)

4.4 Leas€s (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease obligations (Continued)

- Rental payments change due to changes in an index or rate or change in expected payments

under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the rental liabilities are re-measured by

discounting the adjusted rental payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the rental

paymenls change due to the change in the floating interest rate. In this case, the adjusted discount

rate is used.)

- The lease is amended and the lease amendment is not counted as a seParate lease contract, in

which case the lease liabilities are re-measured based on the modified lease term by discounting

the modified lease payments using the modified discount rate at the date of modification.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets include the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease

payments made on or before the inception day, minus any lease incentives received and any initial

direct costs subsequently measured minus accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

when the Group incurs a commitment to the costs of dismantling and removing a leased asset,

restoring the site on which it is located, or restoring the asset to the Iequired condition under the

terms oithe lease contract, the provision is recognized and measured in accordance with IAS (37)

and to the extent that the costs relate to the right-of-use assets, the costs are included in related

ght-of-use assets, unless these costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shortel pfiiod of the contract term or the useful life

ofthe specified asset.

If the lease contract transferc ownership of the underlying asset or right-of-use cost reflects that

the entity expects to exercise the purchase option, then the related use value is depreciated over

the useful life of the underlying asset. Depreciation starts on the date of commencement of the

lease agreement.

Right-of-use assets are presented as a separate component in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The Group applies IAS (36) to determine whether the right to use value has decreased and

calculates any impairment loss identified as described in the "property and equipment" policy.

As a practical expedient, IFRS l6 allows a lessee not to separate the non-leased components, and

insteid any lease contmct and associated non-lease components are counted as a single

arrangement. The Group did not use this practical expedient. For contlacts that contain a leasing

component and one or more leasing or nonJeasing components, the Group allocates consideration

in thi contract to each leasing component based on the independent relative Price of the leasing

component and the total sum ofthe single price ofthe nonJeasing components.
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GULF MEDICAL PRoJECTS CoMPANY (PJSC)
NorEs ro THE CoNSoLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FoR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025

4. MATER]AL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.4 Leases (Continued)

The Group as Lessor

Operating leases

The rental income from the operating the lease is recognized on a consistent basis and evenly over

the period of the related contract. The initial direct costs incurred by the entity when negotiating

and preparing the contract are added to the value in which the leased asset appears in the

consolidated statement of financial position, and they are recognized as expenses during the

contract period in the same way that is adopted for lease income. Leased assets are depreciated

under operating lease contracts, based on the same depreciation policies that the entity follows for

similar assets.

4.5 Invesamentproperties

Land and buildings owned by the Group for the purpose of generating rental income or for capital

appreciation or for both, but not for sale in the ordinary course ofbusiness, use in the production or

supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes are classified as investment properties.

Investment properties are initially measued at cost includes expenditures that are directly

athibutable to the acquisition ofthe investment properties.

Subsequentty, they are measured at fair value with gains or losses arising from changes in fair value

recognized in consolidated statement of income.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the

net pioceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognized in consolidated

statement of income when an investment property that was previously classified as property and

equipment is sold, any related amount included in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained

eamings.

Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed off or when the

investment property is permanently withdrawn fiom use and no future economic benefit is expected

from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are

recognized in the consolidated statement of income within "Other operating income" in the year of
retirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to investment properties when only there is a change in use evidenced by ending

ofowner-occupation on commencement ofan operating lease ofsignificant portion ofthe Property
to another party. Transfers are made from investrnent properties when and only when there is a

change in use based on the business model.

4.6 Impairmentofnon-financialassets

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be

impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the

Group estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an

asset's or cash generating unit's (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The

recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not genelate cash

inflows that are largely independent ofthose fiom other assets or Group's assets. When the carrying

amount ofar asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is

written down to its recoverable amount.
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GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2025

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.6 Impairmentofnon-financialassets(Continued)

ln assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using

a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks

specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs ofdisposal, recent market transactions are

tiken into account. lfno such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.

These calculations are conoborated by valuation multiples or other available fair value indicators.

4.7 Financiallnstruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset ofone entity and a financial

liability or equity instrument ofanother entity.

Fintncial assels

o Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortized cost

(AC), fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI), and fair value through profit

or loss (FVTPL). The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the

financial asset,s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group's business model for

managing them. With the exception of accounts receivable that do not contain a significant

nnancing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group

initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case ofa ltnancial asset not at fair

value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Accounts receivable that do not contain a

significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are

measured at the tansaction pdce determined under IFRS 15.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or fair value through

ocl, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are 'solely payments ofprincipal and interest (SPPI)'

on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred 1o as the SPPI test and is

performed at an instrument level.

The Group,s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial

assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

. Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date, being the date

on *hich thJ Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets ale derecognised

when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been

transfened and the Group has fansfered substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

o Subsequent measurement

For purposes ofsubsequent measurement, financial assets are classilted in four categories:

Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (OCl) with recycling of
cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)
Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI) with no

recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (equity instruments)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)



GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
NorEs ro THE CoNSoLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FoR'fHE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025

4. MATIRIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.7 Financiallnstruments(Continued)

Finan cia I rcsels (Co ntinued)

. Subsequ€nt measurement (Continued)

As of reporting date, thal the Group contracted with only the financial assets at amortized cost

and financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (OCl) with no

recycling at cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (equity instruments) and financial

assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

o Financial assets at amortized cost

The Group measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are

met:

- The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets

in order to collect contractual cash flows and,

- The contractual terms ofthe financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that ale

solely payments ofprincipal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR)

method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the

asset is derecognized, modified or impaired.

The Group,s financial assets at amortized cost includes accounts receivable and others, cash and

bank balances and due from a related Party.

Financial assets at fair value through other compr€hensive income with no recycling of
cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (Equity instruments)

The Group subsequently measures financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

income at fair value and gains and losses on fair value changes are recognized in other

comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to

profit or loss. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognized in statement ofincome

as other income when the Group's right to receive payments is established, except when the Group

benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of cost of the instrument in which case, such

gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity instruments at FVTOCI aIe not subject

to impairment.

. Financial ass€ts at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated

statement ofincome.

This category includes quoted equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected

to classifi at fair value through OCI. Dividends on quoted equity investsnents are recognized

under investment and other income in the consolidated statement of income when the right of
payment has been established.
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4. MATERIAL ACCoUNTING PoLICY INFoRMATIoN (CoNTINUED)

4.7 Financiallnstrum€nts(Continued)

Financial ossets (Conlinued)

. Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments
not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLS are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation ofthe original effective interest rate. ECLs
are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition and ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next l2-months (a l2-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life ofthe
exposure, irrespective ofthe timing ofthe default (a lifetime ECL).

For accounts receivable the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore,
the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forwardJooking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

In certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when intemal or
extemal information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financia[ asset is written offwhen there is no reasonable expectation ofrecoveringthe contractual
cash flows.

Financiol liohilities

Financial liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual arrangement
provision of the instrument.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net oftransaction costs. Financial liabilities
can be subsequently measured at amo(ized cost using the effective interest method, with interest
expense recognized on an effective yield basis, or at fair value through profit or loss.

As ofreporting date, that the Group contracted with only the financial liability at amortized cost

o Financial liabililies at omo ized cost

The effective interest method is a method ofcalculating the amortized cost ofa financialliability
and ofallocating interest expense olrer the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life ofthe financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

The Group's financial liabilities at amortized cost includes accounts payable and others, lease
liabilities.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.7 Financiallnstruments(Continued)

Fin sncial liabililies (Continued)

. Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group's obligations are

discharged, cancelled or they expire. When an existing hnancial liability is replaced by another

from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are

substantially modified, such an exchange or modiltcation is treated as the derecognition of the

originat liability and the recognition ofa new liability. The difference in the respective carrying

amounts is recognized in the consolidated statement ofincome.

Offsetting of linancial instruments
FinancialLseE and liabitities are offset and the net arnount is reported in the consolidated

statement offinancial position ifthere is currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized

amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle

liabilities simultaneously.

4.8 Revenue from contracts with customers balanc€s

4.10 Inventories

Conttact assets

A contract asset is the dght to the consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to

the customer. Ifthe Group performs by transfening the goods or service to the customer before the

customer pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognized for the eamed

considemtion that is conditional.

Accounts receiedble
Accounts receivable are amount due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the

ordinary course of business. The accounting policies of financial assets in ltnancial instruments

paragraph detaits the initial recognition and subsequent measurement of accounts receivable.

Conlroct liabililies
A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customel for which the Group

has received consideration (or an amount ofconsideration is due) from the customel. Ifa customer

pays consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability

is iecognized when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract

liabilities are recognized as revenue when the Group performs under the contract'

4.9 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of preparing consolidated statement of cash flows (Exhibit D) cash and cash

equivalents iomprise cash in hand and bank balances and fixed deposits with an original maturity

ofthree months or less from date of placement.

Inventories are stated at lower of cost or net realizable value, cost is determined using the hrst-in

first-out (FIFO) basis. Cost includes purchase cost, freight, insurance and other related expenses

incuned in bringing the goods to their present condition and location. Net realizable value is based

on the normal s;lling price, less cost expected to be incurred on disposal. Provision is made where

necessary for obsolete, slow-moving and damaged items.
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NoTEs To THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Provisions4.11

4.12 Employees' end ofservice benefits

Employees, end of service benefits is calculated in accordance with U.A.E. Labour Law

requirements.

Retirement pension and social benefit scheme for the u.A.E citizens are made by the Group in

accordance with Federal Law.

Provisions are present obligations (legal or constructive) resulted from past events, the settlement

ofthe obligations is probable and the amount ofthose obtigations can be estimated leliably. The

amount reiognized as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the

present obligation at the consolidated statement of financial position date'

Provisions are reviewed and adjusted at each consolidated statement of financial position date lf
outflows, to settle the provisions, are no longer probable, reversal of the provision is recorded as

income. provisions ari only used for the purpose for which they were originally recognized.

4.13 Accounts payable

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end

of the financial yiar which are unpaid and the amounts ale unsecured. Trade and other payables

are presented as cunent liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting

period. They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised

cost using the effective interest method.

o Rendering of semices

Health care service revenues primarily comprise fees charged for inPatient and outpatient

medical services. Services include charges for accommodation, theatre, medical professional

services, equipment, laboratory and pharmaceutical items used. Revenue is recorded and

recognized iuring the period in which medical service is provided based on the amounts due

fronithe patient and./or medical funding entities. Fees are calculated and billed based on various

tariffs agreed with insurers.

o Sale of goods

Revenue is recognized for the performance obligation when contlol over the corresponding

goods representing drug and cosmetics is transferred to the customers. The timing of revenue

iecognition ofthis performance obligation is at point in time for sale ofgoods when the goods

are delivered to the customers. 
_26_

4.14 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying

assets, which are assets that necessalily take a substantial period of time to get ready fol theil

intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets ale

substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the period

which they are incuned.

4.15 Rev€nue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is

reduced for estimated customer returns and rebates.
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NoTEs TO THE CONSOLIDATf,D FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.15 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Dividend and intetest tevenue
. Dividend revenue from investments is recognized when the shareholder's right to receive

payment has been established.

. Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and

at the effective interest rate applicable.

o Rentol income
Rental income from investment proPerties is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term

ofthe relevant lease contract.

4.16 Dividenddistribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised as liability in the consolidated financial

statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Shareholders.

4.17 Taxes

Value added tax
Expenses and assets are recognized net ofthe amount ofVAT, except :

o When VAT incuned on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation

authority, in which case, VAT is recognised as part ofthe cost ofacquisition ofthe asset or as part

ofthe expense items, as applicable.
o When receivables and payables are stated with the amount ofVAT included.

The net amount ofVAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part

ofreceivables or payables in the consolidated statement offinancial position.

Current income tax expenses

Cunent income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount of income taxes payable

(recoverable) in respect ofthe taxable income (tax loss) to the Federal Tax Authority for the year at

the consolidated statement of ltnancial Position date.

The tax rate used to compute the income tax is that enacted at the rePorting date in the United Arab

Emirates.

I)eferred tax
Deferred tax is accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

are recognized for the full tax consequences of all temporary differences between the carrying

amomts of existing assets and tiabilities in the consolidated financial statemenls ofthe Group and

their respective tax bases.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities shall be measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the

period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled

The Group shall offset deferred tax assets and defened tax liabilities if, and only if: a) the Group has

a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against curent tax liabilities; and b) the

defened ta.x assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation

authority on either the same taxable entity; or different taxable entities which intend eitler to seftle

current tax liabitities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and sefile the liabilities

simultaneously, in each fuhre period in which significant amounts ofdeferred tax liabilities or assets

are expected to be settled or recovered.
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4. MATf,RIALACCOUNTINGPOLICYINFORIVIATION(CONTINT]ED)

4.17 Taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)
Deferred tax assets are recognized up to the extent that it is probable that suflicient taxable profits

will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized. The carrying

amount ofa deferred tax asset shall be reviewed at the end ofeach reporting period. The Group shall

reduce the carrying amount of a defened tax asset to the extent that it is no longer probable that

sufficient laxable profit will be available to allow the benefit ofpart or all ofthat deferred tax asset

to be utilised. Any such reduction shall be reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that

sufficient taxable profit will be available Also, at the end of each reporting period, the Group
reassesses unrecognized defened ta-x assets and recognises a previously unrecognised defened tax

asset to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable proht will allow the deferred tax

asset to be recovered.

4.18 Earnings per share

Basic eamings per shme

Basic eamings per share is calculated by dividing:

The proht attributable to shareholders ofthe Group, excluding any costs of servicing equity

other than ordinary shares.

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year,

adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury

shares ifany.

4.19 Foreigncurrencies

Transactions in foreign cunencies are translated to UAE Dirhams at the foreign exchange rates

at the date ofthe transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are

translaled to UAE Dirhams at the spot foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. The foreign
currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between the amortized cost in UAE
Dirhams at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments dwing the
year, and the amortized cost in the foreign currency translated at the spot exchange rate at the

end ofthe year.

Non monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign culrency are

translated to UAE Dirhams at the spot exchange rate at the date on which the fair value is
determined. Non monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency

are translated using the spot exchange rate the date of the tansaction.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are generally recognized in consolidated
statement ofincom€.

4.20 Contingentliabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations depending on whether some uncertain future events

occur, or they are present obligations but payments are not probable or the amounts cannot be

measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial
statements.
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4. MATERIAL ACCoUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.21 Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organized into two operating segments based on their
products and services. These segments are independently managed by respective segment
managers who are reporting to the Group's management. The Group regularly review the segment
results in order to assess the segment performance.

4.22 Fair value measurem€nt

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The fair value measurement assumes that the asset or liability is exchanged in an orderly
transaction between market participants to sell the assets or transfer the liability at the measurement
date under current market conditions.

The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either :

o In the principa[ market for the asset or liability; or
o In the absence ofa principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The Group must have access to the principal (or most advantageous) market at the

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants

would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient date are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use ofrelevant observable inputs

and minimizing the use ofunobservable inputs.

A fair value hierarchy is established that categorizes into three levels the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value as follows :

o Level I : Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markeh for identical assets or
liabilities

o Level?: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level I that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly.

. Level 3 : Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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5. PRoPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

a) The details ofthis item are as follows :

Cost /RevaluatioD :

At I lart.tuy 2024
Additions
Disposals
Transfer

Aa 3l Decembcr 2024
AdditioDs
Disposals

Balance at 31 December 2025

Accumulated DepreciatioD
At I l"nruary 2024
Charged for the year
Relating to disposals

At 3l Decembcr 2024
Charged for the year
Relatitrg to disposals

Balance at 31 December 2025

Land
AED ,000'

250,482

Hospital

@i!sr
AED'000,

Hospital furniture
and equiDment

Other furDiture Capital work-
and equiDment tn-Drogress Total

AED '000'AED '000' AED'000'AED'000'AED'000'

Motor
vehicles

578,632
1,226

tst,628
12,794
(t,e22)

4,666
1,036
(73e)

16,823
876

(170)

748
4,',783

(162)
(2,so4)

1,O02,979
20,715

(2,993)

t,ozo,70l
26,761

(1,841)

2,504

250,482 582,362
3,152

250,48X 585,s14

159,838
16,102

175,940
16,319

1922s9

250,482 393,255

250,482 406,422

162,500
t7,413

(77s)

4,963
1,292
(823)

11,529
407

(243)

2,865
4,497

179,138 5,432 17,69! 7,362 1,045,621

t22,015
8,607

(r,474)

3,351
346

(l3e)

3,558
532

(823)

3,267

2,165

1,405

15,875
625

(167)

301,079
2.5,680
(r,780)

129,148
r0,026
(147)

16,333
493

(243)

324,919
27,310
(r,8r3)

t3E,427 t6,5E3

1,110

350,536

7,362 695,085

2,865 695,722

Net Book Value :

At 31 December 2025 - Exhibit A

At 3l December 2024 - Exhibit A

40,711

33,352 1,196
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5. PRoPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CoNTINUED)

b) Land of AED. 250,482 thousand mentioned above represents the fair value of a plot of land at
the date ofacquisition measuring 350,000 square feet registered with the concemed govemment
department in the name of the subsidiary.

c) Capital work-in-progress ofAED. 7,362 thousand mentioned above represent the costs incurred
for the heat pumps and accessories and redesign and renovation works at the hospital buildings
in the Emirate of Dubai.

d) Depreciation for the year is allocated to cost ofrevenues and general and administrative expenses
amounting to ABD.26,902 thousand (2024 : AED. 25,314 thousand) and AED.468 thousand
(2024 : AED.366 thousand) respectively.

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

a) This item consists of the following :

Softwar€
AED '000'

Cost:
At I Iantary 2024
Additions

3,632
303

At 3l December 2024
Additions

3,935
2,344

Balance at 3l December 2025 6,279

Accurnulated Amortization :

At I Jantary 2024
Charged for the year

At 31 December 2024
Charged for the year

Cost:
At I January
Addition during the year
Charged for the year

Net book value at 3l December - Exhibit A

2025
AED '000'

2024
AED '000'

2,672
528

3,200
579

Balance at 31 December 2025 3,779

Net book value :

At 31 December 2025 - Exhibit A

At 3l December 2024 - Exhibit A

b) Amortization for the year is allocated to cost of revenues and general and administrative
expenses amounting to AED. 578 thousand (2024 : AED.527 thousand) and 1 thousand
(2024 : AED. I thousand) respectively.

7, R]GHT-oF.USE ASSETS

The movement ofright-of-use assets are summarized as follows :

:e
_2

7,353
1,963

(2,587)

9,789

(2,436)
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YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025

8. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

a) This item consists of the following:

Land
Commercial properties
Residential properties

Fair value at 3l December - Exhibit A

2025
AED '000'

7 6,201
19,297
10,797

2024
AED '000'

7 6,311
t7,618
1o,252

106,295 l04,l8l

b) The details ofmovement in investment properties during the year are as follows:

##-n*
Fair value at 1 January 104'lEl
Increase in fair value 2,114

2024
AED '000'

91,091
13,090

Fair Yalue at 3l December 106,295 104,181

Investment properties represent investments in land and real estates in the United Arab Emirates.

c) The details of investment properties and information about the fair value hierarchy is as follows:

3l December 2025
Level2

AED '000'
Level 3Level I

AED '000'

Land
Commercial properties
Residential properties

Total Fair Value

3l December 2024

Land
Commercial properties
Residential properties

Total Fair Value

7 6,201
19,297
r0,797

106,295

AED '000'

Level 3

AED '000'

Total
AED '000'

76,201
19,297
10,797

r06,295

Total
AED 'OOO'

7 6,31|
17 ,618
10,252

Level I
AED '000'

Level2
AED'000'

76,311
t7 ,618
10,25?

104,181 l04,l8l

Voluation process

The Croup's investment properties were valued as at 3l December 2025 and 3l December 2024

by expert external valuers.

Valuolion techniques underlying eslimation oflair value

. The fair value ofthe land was determined based on the sales comparable approach.

o The fair value ofthe commercial and residential properties were determined based on the

direct comparison approach.

. There has been no change to the valuation technique during the year.
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9. IN\BSrMENTS rN FTNANCTAL AssETs

lnvestments in financial assets comprise ofthe following :

a) Investments at fair value through oth€r comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

This item consists ofthe following:
2025

AED 'OOO'

Fair value at I January
Purchases during the year
Sales during the year
Gain on sale investments at FVTOCI
lncrease in fair value

250,307
537

54,805

2024
AED '000'

259,053

(68,217)
L )-11

55,240

305,649 250,307Fair Value at 31 December - Exhibit A

Investments at fair value though other comprehensive income represent
securities quoted in the local financial markets.

b) Investm€nts at fair value through prolit or loss (FVTPL)

2025
This item consists ofthe lollowing

AED '000'

36,567
24,094

investments in

2024
AED 'OOO'

39,406
(2,839)

9,851
8,786
(se0)

18,047

Fair value at 1 January
Increase/(decrease) in fair value

Fair Value at 31 December - Exhibit A 60,661 36,567

Investments at fair value through profit or loss represent investments in securities quoted in local

and regional financial markets.

IO, INVENToRIES

a) This item consists ofthe following

2025 2024
AED '000'AED '000'

Goods for sale (drugs and cosmetics)
General stores and hospital supplies
Provision for slow-moving items - Note l0(b)

Net Amount - Exhibit A 27,027

b) The details of movement in provision for slow-moving items are as follows

2025
AED 'OOO'

18,228
9,868

(1,069)

2024
AED'OOO'

Balance at I January
Additions to provision
Write off during the year

Balance at 31 December - Note l0(a)

590
r,118
(63e)

590

r,069 590



GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025

I I. BALANCES AND TRANsAcTIoNs WITH TIILATED PARTIEs

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into various transactions with related parties.
Related parties represent major shareholders, directors and key management personnel ofthe Group,
and entities controlled, jointly control)ed or significantly influenced by such parties. The prices a;d
terms ofthese transactions are agreed with the Group,s management.

o Due from a related party

This item represents the amount due from Gulf Medical Commercial Agencies (LLC) - Sharjah.
As per the management contract, the Group is managed and financed by the Group in retum for
the yearly profit/(loss) generated by the Company which has been included in the consolidated
statement of income of the Company. The details of the movement in this account during the
year are as follows :

Balance at I January
Net funds received during the year
Loss for the year transferred - Note 26

Balance at 3l December - Exhibit A

Purchase
Expenses

12. ACCOUNTS TTECEIVABLE AND OTHERS

a) This item consists of the following :

2025
AED 'OOO'

1,832
28

(214)

1,646

. 2024
AED'OOO'

2,193
9

(370)

L,832

2024
AED 'OOO'

22',7 ,960

(t17,929)

I 10,031

14,925
2,536

596

e The following are the details ofsignificant related parties transactions :

2025 2024
AED'OOO' AED'OOO'

601 716
s30 530

o The remuneration, salaries and other benefits ofBoard ofDirectors and other members ofkey
management during the year are as follows :

#f+dd' 
^*-Mro*,

Key management salaries and other related benefits 11,383 9,774
Board of directors remuneration

(as approved by the Annual General Meeting) 7,000 5,382
Board committee expenses 211 248

2025
AED'000'

Accounts receivable
Provision for impairment loss ofaccounts receivable

- Note l2(b)

Net Amount

Prepayments and other receivables - Note l2(c)
Recoverable tax (VAT)
Post-dated cheques received

222,043

(l19,059)

t02,984

I1,990
2,306
I,180

_ryr*Total - Exhibit A
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GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025

ACCOUNTS TTECEIVABLE AND OTHERS (CONTINUED)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer's credit quality
ard defines credit limits for customer.

A provision has been made for the estimated impairment loss of accounts receivable based on
assumption about risk default and expected loss rate.

The Group usesjudgment in making the estimates and assumption for calculation of impairment
loss based on management past history, existing market conditions, including expectation of
futue events.

There has been no change in the estimation teclmiques or significant assumption made during
the current reporting period in assessing the provision for impairment loss of accounts
receivable.

The following table details the risk profile of accounts receivables based on the Group,s
provision matrix.

18l-365 Above
31 December 2025 0-90 davs 9l-180 days davs 365 davs Total

Af,D'000, AED'000' AED,000' AED'000' AED'000,

Gross carryirg amou[t
Expecaed credit loss rate
Loss allowance

95,722
9.23l,/0

8,835

16,582
61.34V"
10,t7t

18,157
E6.59yo

t< 1r,

9t,5E2
92.080/"

84,331

222,043
53.620/0

119,059

92,840
30,467
(s,378)

2024
AED'OOO'

5,090
1,2t5

947
342
999

I,507
4,823

2

31 December 2024
Above

0-90 days 9l-180 davs 181-365 days 365 davs Total
AED'OOO' AED'OOO' AED'OOO' AED'OOO' AED'OOO'

Gross carrying amount 55,699 35,135 33,689 103,437 227,960
Expected credit loss rate l3.82yo 23.59o/o 43.360/0 84.43% 51.73%
Loss allowance 7,698 8,289 14,608 87,334 117,929

b) The movement in provision for impairment loss ofaccounts receivable during the year are as

follows :

2025
AED .000' AED'OOO'

2024

Balance at I January
Additions to provision
Write off during the year

Balance at 3l December - Note 12(a)

c) Prepayments and other receivable

This item consists ofthe following :

Prepaid expenses
Refundable deposits
Interest receivable
Staff receivables
Margin held with banks
Advances paid
Due from brokerage companies
Others

tt7,929
34,638

(33,s08)

2025
AED .000'

4,815
1,2t5
1,694

44
959

3,165
83
l5

119,059 117,929

Total - Note 12(a)
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GULF MEDTCAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMf,NTS FoR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025

13. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

a) This item consists ofthe following:

Cash in hand
Bank balances - Current and call deposit accounts
Fixed deposits - Note l3 (b)

2025
AED'OOO'

2024
AED'OOO'

224
22,728

t7 6,041

304
49,000

t7 4,117

223,421Total - Exhibit A 198,993

b) Fixed deposits carry proht/interest at prevailing market rates. Fixed deposits of
AED. l74,ll7 thousand (2024: AED. 176,041 thousand) mentioned above include fixed
deposits AED. 2,201 thousand (2024: AED.2,l94 thousand) held under lien by local banks
against credit facilities granted to the Group.

14. SHARE CAPTTAL

2025 2024
AED .000' AED'OOO'

Authorized share capital is 698,916,094 ordinary share
of AED. I each fully paid - Exhibit A 698,916

I5. RESERVES

a) Statutory reserve

l0% of the yearly profit shall be deducted and retained in statutory reserve account, the
deduction will be stopped when the reserve reaches 50% of the Company's paid-up capital
and ifthe statutory reserve decreases from that Percentage again will be back to deduction

b) Optional reserve
The optional reserve ofAED 6,041 thousand mentioned below represents total amounts
annually transferred at a rate of l0% of the profits generated in the previous years, in
accordance with the Articles ofAssociation ofthe Company at that time, the Company has

resolved to discontinue the annual transfer to this reserve in accordance with a decision from
Ordinary General Assembly Meeting. As per the article 60 of the Articles of Association the
optional reserve may be used for the benehts and interest of the Group based on Board of
Director's resolution.

c) The details of movements in the reserves during the year are as follows :

698,916

Statutory Optional
_19!9E9_ reserye
AED ,000' AED ,000'

Revaluation

-@9-AED .000'

6,041 1,923

Total
AED ,000'

298,434
7,789

Balance at I Jan]an 2024
Additions for the vear

Balance aa 3l December 2024-Exhibit A
Additions for the year

Balance at 3l December 2025- Exhibit A

290,470
7,789

29E,259
10,851

6,041 1,923 306,223
10,851

v!:
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GULF MEDICAL PRoJECTS CoMPANY (PJSC)
NOTES To THE CoNSoLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FoR THE
YEAR EN'DED 3I DECEMBER 2025

I6. PROPoSED APPRoPRIATIoN oF PRoFITS AND BoARD oF DIREcToR,s Tu]MUIYERA.TIoN

The Shareholders in their Annual General Meeting held on 17 March 2025 approved a cash
dividend of AED. 104,837 ,414 at AED. 0.15 per share and the Board of Directors remuneration
ofAED. 7,000,000 for the year ended 3l December 2024.
In respect of the current year, the Board of Directors have proposed a cash dividend of
AED. I18,815,736 at AED. 0.17 per share to be paid to shareholden in 2026.

It has been also proposed that the Board ofDirectors remuneration for the year be AED. 9,000,000.

The above mentioned proposed dividends and board of directors remuneration are subject to the
approval of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and have not been included in the
consolidated fi nancial statements.

17. NoN.CoNTRoLLING INTEREST

a) The details ofthe movement in this item during the year are as follows :

"EffiF
2024

AED'OOO'

Balance at I January
Share of profit for the year

Balance at 3l December - Exhibit A

Balance at I January
Current service cost
Settlements

Balance at 31 December - Exhibit A

91,033
26,659

68,870
22,163

tr7,692 91,033

b) Non-controlling interest mentioned above represents the share of non-controlling as at the
consolidated statement offinancial position date and are as follows:

2025 2024
Yo o/o

Share in Al Zahra (Prt) Hospital Dubai (L.L.C) 31.62

18. EMpLorrEs' END oF sERvlcE BENEFTTS

The details of movement in this item during the year are as follows:
2025

AED 'OOO'

31.62

. 2024
AED 'OOO'

28,102
6,892

(3,s13)

25,027
s,296

(2,221)

31,481 28,102
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025

19. LEASE LrABrLrTrEs

Lease liabilities represent the long term lease ofstaffaccommodation and robotics surgical systems
up to the year 2029. The details ofmovement in this item during the year are as follows:

2025 2024
AED'OOO' AED'OOO'

Balance at I January
Additions during the year
Interest on lease liabilities
Payments during the year

Balance at 3l December

Non-Current - Exhibit A
Current - Exhibit A

Total

20. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHERS

This item consists ofthe following

Accounts payable
Uncollected portion of repayments to shareholders
Post -dated cheques issued
Accrued expenses
Provision for staff leave salaries and air passage

Income received in advance
Staffpayables
Other payables

5,920
t,963

t36
(l,7sl)

6,268

3,100
3,168

6,268

8,115

150
(2,34s)

( oro

4,420
1,500

5 qro

2025
AED'OOO' AED'OOO'

2024

84,51s
1,070
9,s62

12,383
t7,423
2,142

93
31,,642

5 8,378
1,070
7 ,059

I1,514
t5,7 50

2,727
t6 t

41,658

Total - Exhibit A r58,890 138,3 t7

2I. SEGMENTINFORMATION

The Board ofDirectors are chiefopefating decision makers for the Group. Management determine
the operation segments based on segments identified for the purpose ofallocation ofresources and
assessing performance.

The Group's reportable segments are orgarized into two major segments as follows :

i) Health services and others Principally providing health, medical care and other related
servlces.

ii) lnvestments Principally concemed with lnvestment properties and
investment in securities.

Performance of each segment is measured based on segment profit as management believes that
profit is the most relevant factor in evaluating the results ofsegment.
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NoTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FoR THE
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2I. SEGMENT INFORMATIoN (CoNTINUED)

The financial analysis according to the business segments are as follows

Herlth Scrviccs & others Inves Total

Rev€nue
Total reveDues

AED .000'

767,523

AED'OOO'

677,337

Rcsult
Segment result

2024

AED'000'
2025

AED 'OOO'

2024

AED'000'
2025 2024 2025

AED ,000'

ztl,410

17,664

186,632

8,923

56,111

s6J48 31,160

30,8?6

t23,t71

261,521

(r38,626)

'708,491

2t1,50E

(t t1,277)
Unallocated general and

administratNe expenses

Operating profit
Other income

Profrt from operalion before tax
Current income tax expenses
Deferred tax

Profit fiom operation
Attributable to non-controlling interest

Profit for lhe year

128,E95
t7,6@

100,23 t
8,923

r46,559
(9,033)
(2Jse)

109,154
(8,r8 r)

(923)

r35,16?
(26,6s9)

r00,0s0
(22,163)

108,s08 71,887
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR TIIE
YEAR ENDED JI DECEMBER 2025

2I. SEGMENT INFORMATION(CONTINUED)

Health Services & others
2025

AED '000'
2024

AED '000'
Other information

Segment assets

Segment liabilities

Capital expenditure 29,105 21,018

Investments Total

891,456

199298

882,495

t7 5,147

2025
AED'000'

656,017

9,658

2024
AED '000'

5 59,330

6,296

2025
AED '000'

2024
AED '000'

1,547,473 1,441,825

208,956 181,443

29,105 21,018
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NoTEs To THE CoNSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMf,NTS FoR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025

22. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments comprise financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets consist of cash and bank balances, accounts receivable and others, due from a

related party, investments at FVTPL and investments at FVTOCI. Financial liabilities consist of
accounts payables and others, and lease liabilities.

Fair value offinancial instruments carried at omortized cost

Management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recognised at amortized cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

Valuation techniques and assumptions applied /or the purposes ofmeasuring fair value

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined using similar valuation
techniques and assumptions as used in the audited consolidated financial statements for the year

ended 3l December 2024.

Th Group uses external valuers with market knowledge, reputation and independence for
evaluation of investment properties.

For quoted equity investments, fair value is determined by reference to the market value ofa similar
investment or is based on the expected discounted future cash flows.

Fair value of the Group's financial assets that are measured at fair value on recurring basis.

Some ofthe Group's financial assets are measured at fair value at the end ofreporting period. The
following tables gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are

determined:

Fair value as at Fair
Yalue

hierarchy

Valuation
techniques

and key
inputs

Sigrificant
unobservable

input

Relationship of
unobservablc

input to fair
YalueFinancial assets

Investments at fair
valu€ through other
comprehensive
income (FVTOCI)

Investments at fair
value through
profit/loss (FVTPL)

3l December
2025

AED'OOO

3l December
2024

AED'OOO

30s,649 250,30'7

60,661 36,567

Level 1 Quoted prices
in active
markets

Level I Quoted prices
in active
markets

None

None

NA

NA

There is no transfer between each of level during the year. There are no financial liabilities which
should be measured at fair value and accordingly no disclosure is made on the above table.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025

23. RrsK MANAGEMENT

Risk is inherited in the Group's activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing
identification, measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls.
Operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in the business.

The Group is exposed to a variety offinancial risks included : capital risk, market risk (including
foreign cunency risk and price risk), creditrisk and liquidity risk. It is also subjectto operational
risk.

The Group seeks to minimize the effects of these risks through intemal reports which analyze
the risk to achieve its risk management function and monitor risks and reviews policies
implemented to mitigate risk exposures.

23.1 Copital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In orderto maintain or adjustthe capital structure, the Group may adjustthe amount ofdividends
paid to shareholders, retum ofcapital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets.

23.2 Markel risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and equity
prices will affect the Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments, The

objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposure within
acceptable parameters, while optimizing the retum on risk.

a)Foreign cunency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument

will fluctuate because ofchanges in foreign exchange rate.

The Group's activities arc not exposed to the financial risks of changes in foreign cunency
exchange rates because substantially all the financial assets and liabilities are denominated in
United Arab Emirates Dirhams (AED) or US Dollars to which the AED is pegged.

b) Price risk ofshares

Price risk of shares is the risk that the value of shares fluctuates as a result of changes in

market prices. The Group is exposed to market price risk with respect to its investments in
quoted marketable securities. The Group limits market price risks by maintaining a

diversified portfolio and by continuous actively monitoring of the key factors that effect
stock and market movements including analysis ofoperational and financial performance of
investees.

Sensilivity analysis

At the reporting date if the equity prices of the quoted investments held at FVTPL and

FVTOCI are l0% higher/lower as per the assumptions mentioned below and all the other
variables were held constant the results for the year in the Group's consolidated statement of
income and consolidated statement of other comprehensive income would have

increased/decreased by AED 6,066 thousand (2024: AED. 3,657 thousand) and

AED. 30,565 thousand (2024: AED 25,031 thousand) respectively.
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NoTEs To THE CoNSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE
YEAR ENDED JI DECEMBER 2025

23. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

23.2 Market risk (contihued)

b) Price risk of shares (Conlinued)

Se n s il iv ily analy s is (Co ntinued)

Method and assumptions for sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been done based on the exposure to equity price risk as at the

reporting date.

As at the reporting date if equity prices are l0% higher/lower on the market value

uniformly for all equities while all other variables are held constant, the impact on

consolidated statement ofincome and other comprehensive income has been shown above.

A l0% change in equity prices has been used to give a realistic assessment as a plausible

event.

23.3 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group, if a customer or counterparty to a financial

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from cash flows from

financial assets recorded at amortized cost such as cash and bank balances, accounts receivable

and amount due from a related pafi.

The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and future information on maclo economic

factors affecting the abilities of the customers to settle their receivable balances. with Iespect to

credit sk arising from other financial assets such as cash and bank balances including deposits

arising from default ofcounter party to limit that credit risk.

The Group's cash is placed with banks ofrepute. Management is confident that it does not result

in any credit risk to the Group as the banks are major banks operating in the UAE.

23.4 Liquidity tisk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations

associated with its financial liabilities at maturity date.

The Group trade with recognized, creditworthy parties. The Group's policy that all customers are

analyzed for creditworthiness on credit terms and are subject to monitor the Ieceivable balances

ofcustomers on an ongoing basis, that receivable balances are the maximum exposure to cledit

risk relating accounts receivable.

The Group applies IFRS Accounting Standard 9 simplified apPloach to measule exPected credit

loss (ECL) by grouped all financial assets based on shared credit risk characteristics and days past

due (Note l2).

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of that business transaction and the

corresponding historical credit loss experienced within this period.

The Group monitors its risk to shortage of funds using a cash flow model. This tool considers the

maturity offinancial assets and projected cash flows from operation and capital plojects.
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23.

23.4

RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Li q u idity ris k (Co ntinued)

The details of maturity dates of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities are as
follows :

As at 3l December 2025 :
Less thtrn

three months

AED'OOO'

Totsl
AED'000'

Financial Assets

Cash.nd bonk brlsnces
Accounts receivable rnd others
I[vestments at frir volue through
prolit or loss (FVTPL)

Due from a rehted prrty
lnvestment st fair value through
other comprehensive income
(FVTOCT)

49,304
9r,846

223,421
110,480

60,661 60,661
1,6461,646

305,649 305,649

Total 20l,8ll 194,391 305,649 701,857

FinsncialLiabilities

69,216 99,135

l-5 vears

AED'OOO'

3,100

3,282

6,382

l-5 vears

AED'000'

4,420

923

5,343

6,268
156,148

9,03s
3,282

175,J33

198,993
t2t,491

5,920
135,590

8,18t
923

150,614

From 3 months
to one yegr

AED 'OOO'

l7 4,111
1E,634

1,975
67,241

I,193
89,507

9,035

Lease liabilities
Accounts pryable and others
Income tox provision
Delerred tax liabilities

Totol

As at 3l December 2024

Financial Assets

Cash and bank balances
Accounts receivable and others
InvestmentJ at fair value tkough
profit or loss (FVTPL)

Due from a related party
I[vestment at fair value through
other comprehensive income
(FVIOCT)

Total

Financial Liabilities

l,ease liabilities
Accounts payable and others
lncome tax provision
Deferred tax liabilities

Total

Less than
three months

AED'000'

From 3 months
to one vear

AED '000'

Total

AED.OOO'

,) as,
103,r96

36,561
t,832

162,715 196,168

116,041
t8,295

750
56,558

'750

't9,032
8,r81

36,567
I,832

250,301

250,301

250,307

609,190

57,308 81,963
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24. TTEVENUES

a) This item consists ofthe following :

2025
AED 'OOO'

767,523

2024

AED 'OOO'

677,337Revenue from contracts with customers - Erhibit B

b) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customerc

Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group's revenue from contracts with customers.

2025 2024

AED 'OOO' AED 'OOO'

Seqments

Type ofservices

Revenue from healthcare services

Geographical markets

Revenue within UAE

Timing of revenue recognition

Services and goods transferred at a point in time

767,523 677 ,337

767,523 677 ,337

6',7'7 ,337

c) Performance obligations

Information about the Group's performance obligations are summarized below :

Rendering ofservices

Health care services revenues primarily comprise fees charged for inpatient and outpatient

medical services. Services include charges for accommodation, theatre, medical professional

services, equipment, laboratory and pharmaceutical items used and recorded at the time of
billing.

Sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods represent the total revenue frotn sale of drug and cosmetics

provided to customers and is recognized when control and benefits are transferred and billed.

767,523
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25. COSTS OF REVENUES

This item consists ofthe following :

Salaries and other related benefits
Supplies and services
Depreciation of property and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Amortization of intangible assets

Total - Exhibit B

26, OTHER INCOME

a) This item consists ofthe following

Dividends received
Interest income
Rental income - Note 26(b)
Gain/(loss) on sale of property and equipment
Loss from a related party - Note I I
Miscellaneous income

Net Amount - Exhibit B

b) R€ntal income

This item consists ofthe following:

Rental Income
Rental costs

Net amount - Note 26 (a)

556,r13 490,705

2025 2024
AED ,000' AED'OOO'

2025
AED 'OOO'

322,579
203,467
26,902

2,587
578

2024
AED'OOO'

289,987
172,441
25,314
2,436

527

13,782
5,589
2,956
(388)
(370)
7 ,979

29,548

2024
AED 'OOO'

20,913
6,955
3,952

420

Qr4)
15,541

47,567

2025
AED '000'

4,189
(237)

3,240
(284)

=::2 2,956
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27. GENERAL AND ADMINISTR{TIVE EXPENSES

This item consists ofthe following:

Staff salaries and other related benefits
Provision for impairment loss ofaccounts receivable
Electricity and water
Advertising and publicity
Govemment expenses
Telephone and postage
Social contributions
Legal charges and professional fees
Insurance
Bank and credit card charges
Provision for slow-moving items
Depreciation of property and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets

Miscellaneous expenses

Accounting profit for the year before tax

Add : Non-deductible expense for tax purpose

Less : Fair value accounting and assets adjustments (net)

Less : Exempt income

2025
AED '000'

67,123
34,638

7,938
5,582
6,957

890
1,500
3,702
1,847
2,220
l,l lE

468
1

4,506

2024
AED'000'

54,934
30,467

7 ,477
4,906
6,340

769
1,000
3,3 l3
1,500
2,049

366
I

4,005

Total - Exhibit B 138,490 tt1,t27

28. INCOME TAX

Corporzte Tax Law

On 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance released Federal Decree-Law No. 41 of 2022
on the Taration ofCorporations and Businesses, Corporate Tax Law ("CT Law") to enact a Federal
corporate tax regime in the UAE. Furthermore, a Cabinet Decision was published which specifies
that taxable income not exceeding AED. 375,000 would be subject to a 0% UAE CT rate and

taxable income exceeding AED. 375,000 would be subject to the 9% UAE CT rate.

The effective implementation date for the Group starts from I January 2024

Curyent Income Tax

The major components of income tax expense in the consolidated statement of income are as

follows :

2025

AED '000'

2024

AED 'OOO

146,559

t,675
(26,208)

(20,9r3)

109,154

2,296
(6,020)

(13,780)

Net taxable incom€
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NOTES TO THf, CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025

28. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Tax due on:

Net taxable income not exceeding AED. 375,000 *

Net taxable income exceeding AED. 375,000

Income tax expenses- Exhibit B

Income tax provision - Exhibit A

The movement in this item during the year are as follows

Balance at I January
Current tax expenses for the year
Paid during the year

Deferred tax - Exhibit B

Deferred tax liabilities - Exhibit A

The movement in this item during the year are as follows

Balance at I January
Defened tax liabilities for the year

2025

AED '000'

2024

AED '000'

9,033 8,181

9,033

9,035

2024

AED'OOO'

8,181

2025

AED'OOO'

8,181
9,033

(8,r7e)
8,r8l

Balance at 3l December 9,035 8,r81

* As per the United Arab Emirates Corporate Tax law, maximum standard deduction
applicable for each tax group is AED 375,000. The standard deduction applicable for the two
tax groups considered by the Group amounts to AED 750,000 on which tax rate at \yo.

The income tax expenses for cunent year is AED. 9,033 thousand (2024: AED. 8,181 thousand)
and the effective current income tax rate for the year is 6.16% (2024: 7 .49%)

Defewed Tax

2025

AED 'OOO'

3,282

2025
AED '000'

923
2,3s9

AED 'OOO'

923

2024

923

2024
AED '000'

923

2,359

Balance at 31 December

The deferred tax liabilities for the year of AED. 2,359 thousand (2024: AED. 923 thousand), as

determined by the Group's management assessment, arising from temporary differences related to
the fair value changes in assets measured at fair value as of the consolidated statement of financial
position date.

3,282 923

48-

8,18 t
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NOTES TO THE CONSoLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FoR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2025

29 BASIC EARNINGS PER SIIARE

This item consists ofthe following :

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders
ofthe parent company (AED '000)

Weighted average number ofshares (share '000)

Basic Earnings per share (AED) - Exhibit B

Cash in hand
Bank balances - Current and call deposit accounts

2025 2024
AED '000' AED '000'

108,508 77 ,887

698,916 698,916

0. t55 0.111

30. CASH AND CASH EeurvALENTs

At 3l December 2025 and2024 "cuh and cash equivalents" included in the consolidated
statement of cash flows (Exhibit D) comprise the following items :

2025 2024
Af,D '000'

304
49,000

AED 'OOO'

224
22,728

Total - Exhibit D 49,304 )) o\)

3I. CoNTINGENTLIABILITIES/CoMMITMENTS

i) Contingentliabilities

Contingent liabilities ofthe Group as at the consolidated statement offinancial position
date amounted to AED. 959 thousand {2024: AED. 999 thousand) representing Letters
of Guarantees issued.

ii) Commitments

Commitments of the Group as at the consolidated statement of financial position date
are as follows :

2025 2024

AED 'OOO' AED 'OOO'

Capital purchases 15,83237,824
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